# **Utah State University**

# DigitalCommons@USU

**Undergraduate Honors Capstone Projects** 

**Honors Program** 

5-2023

# Oppression in Xinjiang: Rhetorical Parallels to the Causal **Mechanisms**

Christina Elizabeth Anderson Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/honors



Part of the Political Science Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Anderson, Christina Elizabeth, "Oppression in Xinjiang: Rhetorical Parallels to the Causal Mechanisms" (2023). Undergraduate Honors Capstone Projects. 968.

https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/honors/968

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Honors Program at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Undergraduate Honors Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



# OPPRESSION IN XINJIANG: RHETORICAL PARALLELS TO THE CAUSAL MECHANISMS

by

Christina Elizabeth Anderson

Capstone submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for graduation with

# **University Honors**

with majors in International Studies and Global Communication

in the Departments of Political Science and Communication Studies and Philosophy

Approved:	
Capstone Mentor Dr. Colin Flint	<b>Departmental Honors Advisor</b> Dr. Greg Goelzhauser
<b>University</b>	Honors Program Executive Director
•	Dr. Kristine Miller

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, UT

Spring 2023

© 2023 Christina Anderson All Rights Reserved

#### Abstract

This paper compares the framings of ethnic conflict with theoretical political science explanations of the causes of such conflict. Framings are statements used to portray the who, what, and why of an issue through the emphasis or exclusion of information to create a specific agenda. The theoretical expectation from social science is that ethnic conflict is a result of a commitment problem, where the two parties in the conflict cannot credibly guarantee the protection of the other. This arises from situations where there is a large minority group population that is underrepresented from government and has grievances from economic disparities or religious or ethnic repressive policies which causes them to mobilize. I used the example of the conflict between Uyghur Muslims and Han Chinese in Xinjiang as narrated by Chinese newspapers and the Associated Press (a U.S.- based news organization) to analyze whether the causes of conflict are present in framings. I performed a comparative content analysis to uncover the framings that both internal and external actors are using, the differences between them, and their congruence with universal expectations from political science analyses of ethnic conflict. I found that the framings of the conflict by both internal and external actors are congruent to causes of ethnic conflict in many of the articles analyzed, though the actors use them to advance their own interests and narratives. The findings of the relationship between the communication around an issue and the theorized causes help us interpret narratives surrounding issues of ethnic conflict. A more effective policy response is possible because we understand which aspects are salient to the actors and which aspects have not been addressed.

# Acknowledgments

I am indebted to the patient, guiding mentorship of Dr. Colin Flint of the USU Political Science throughout this endeavor. His exceptional academic and mentorship experience aided me in the development of the theoretical framework for this paper and gave me the ability and motivation to conduct this research. It is his kindness and expertise that made this paper possible.

I am also grateful for the support of USU Honors College, USU Department of Communication Studies and Philosophy, USU Office of Research, and USU College of Humanities and Social Sciences in enabling me to travel to present this research.

The encouragement and support from my husband, Ryan, has also been invaluable to the success of this project as he has been there for me and motivated me to continue forward in the face of pressure and difficulty.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction	
Background	1
Literature Review	3
Ethnic Conflict	3
Framing	4
Conceptualization	6
Methodology	9
Analysis	11
Economic Disparities	11
Religious or Ethnic Repression	14
Large Minority Group Population	18
Exclusion from Government/Lack of Political Power	19
Mobilization/Terrorism	21
Complexity	23
Incongruence	25
Conclusion	27
Capstone Reflection	30
Works Cited	32
Appendix	37
Author Biography	46

# **List of Tables and Figures**

Table 1: Incidents of Terrorism in China, 2009-2019	2
Table 2: Expected Framings Derived From Causes	
Table 3: Actual Framings	8
Table 4: Comparison of Expected Framings to Actual Framings	8

#### Introduction

Political scientists have identified factors that correlate with the onset of ethnic conflict through quantitative analyses. However, the connection of these theories to the ways that actors involved portray the conflict and frame it according to their interests is not well-understood. This research aims to bridge that gap by identifying whether the causes that have been established are present in the framing of the issue by actors within the country of the conflict and those commenting from foreign countries. The situation in Xinjiang with Uyghur Muslims has been chosen as the area of study because of its political relevance in Chinese-U.S. relations, the lack of evidence surrounding what is happening and the subsequent importance of the framings of the conflict to uncover what is driving the conflict, and the limited research exploring the causes of the conflict, especially as it connects to the rhetoric surrounding it.

# **Background**

The Uyghurs are a large minority ethnic and religious group in Xinjiang, the westernmost province of China. Xinjiang, a resource-rich region which was integrated into the Chinese state in the 1750s, has been a region of discontent and unrest because of China's attempts to maintain its hold and Uyghurs' desire for autonomy and independence (Soloshcheva, 2017). Uprisings with an Islamist religious element have occurred since the late 19<sup>th</sup> and early 20<sup>th</sup> centuries, with two East Turkestan Republics gaining independence for a short time in 1933 and 1944 before being taken over quickly. This legacy has influenced contemporary separatist aspirations (Friedrichs, 2017). Since the 1980s, religious repressive policies have been instituted against Muslims by the Chinese state, resulting in further uprisings and subsequent crackdowns by the Chinese government, including what have been termed "Strike Hard" campaigns against terrorism (Friedrichs, 2017; Soloshcheva, 2017; Guo, 2015; Chung, 2018). The "global war on

terror" has influenced Chinese actions and the framing of Chinese discourse since the terrorist attacks of September 11<sup>th</sup>, 2001, allowing the government to justify their actions against the Uyghurs as counter-terrorism efforts (Tredaniel & Lee, 2016; Smith Finley, 2019). Major riots in Urumqi in 2009 led to the institution of another "Strike Hard" campaign, imposing strict rules on Islamic religious activities. This included the reporting of any action that was deemed questionable, such as growing a beard, the dissemination of religious materials, or connections abroad (Human Rights Watch, 2018). The campaign led to a substantial increase in occurrences of terrorism between 2013-2015, as shown in the data on the incidences of terrorism in China obtained from the World Terrorism Database (Table 1). Most of the instances before 2017 occurred in Xinjiang.

**Table 1** *Incidents of Terrorism in China, 2009-2019, World Terrorism Database* 

Year	Number of Incidents	Deaths	Injuries
2019	13	0	12
2018	1	2	2
2017	6	16	76
2016	5	13	18
2015	16	123	83
2014	37	322	478
2013	12	60	71
2012	4	27	38
2011	4	19	32
2010	1	7	14
2009	7	186	56

*Note:* The numbers do not include values for terrorist incidents where fatality and injury counts are unknown. Hence, the numbers are an under-estimation.

Beginning around 2017, people have been detained extrajudicially in what has been described by China as "vocational training" or "political re-education centers," where Uyghurs are to receive job training, learn Chinese, and show support for the Chinese government (Chung, 2018). China has been accused of various abuses in these camps such as coercive secularization

and instances of torture, physical abuse, rape, forced sterilizations and birth control, and forced labor (Smith Finley, 2019). Such allegations have led to international outcry by human rights organizations and other states alike, some terming it genocide (Smith Finley, 2021; Zenz, 2019). The focus of my research will be the violence between the Chinese government and the Uyghur Muslims since 2017.

# Literature Review

# **Ethnic Conflict**

The increased onset of conflicts that have arisen between groups with salient ethnic or religious identities and the causes of such conflict have been the object of study by social scientists over the past four decades (Horowitz, 1985). Questions about definition of ethnicity as it relates to violence have been debated, but it has been generally accepted that ethnicity refers to a collective identity where membership in the group is related to descent, based on factors of constrained change and visibility (Chandra, 2006). Salience of ethnic or religious identity may lead groups to nationalism and this may lead to conflict with other groups over resources and rights (Varshney, 2009).

Ethnic conflict has also been asserted to be no different than other conflicts, and that it emerges because of a commitment problem. When it is impossible for either side to make credible commitments to not oppress, marginalize, or overturn the other side and there is a fear that it will get worse, they resort to violence because the potential benefits outweigh the costs (Fearon, 1995). This means that when there is a marginalized minority group that does not have access to power because of exclusion or underrepresentation in government, they are likely to rebel to strive to gain more power when they fear that the government will further limit their power in the future (Cederman et al., 2010; Fearon, 1995). The likelihood of conflict increases if

the group is large because they pose a more significant threat and ethnic identity is more likely to be mobilized because the government will make choices affecting the group specifically (Posner, 2004). If costs of fighting are low, which would be influenced by whether the group is more rural or not strongly reliant on the state economically, conflict is also more likely. If there is a shift in power within the population, the state will fear a threat to its power and crack down with violence to prevent a rebellion (Fearon, 1995). Ethnic favoritism or religious repression at the national level or economic inequalities can also create grievances that fuel conflict (Eifert et al., 2010; De Luca et al., 2015; Fjelde & Østby, 2014; Vinson, 2018; Vinson & Rudloff, 2022).

These established causes have explanatory power in the situation in Xinjiang. As a significant ethnic group in a rural region, they are politically salient and are viewed as a threat to Chinese interests. As the Uyghurs have mobilized, China has responded with violence and oppression (Chung, 2018). Economic disparities between Uyghurs and Han Chinese, and religious repression by the Chinese state, have been cited as influencing the mobilization of the group in terrorist activities (Smith Finley, 2021). Ethnic consciousness and identity in Xinjiang have also been cited as inducing the conflict (Zang; 2013).

# **Framing**

The communication studies theory of framing refers to the way a problem is defined and portrayed by actors, where they highlight certain information as being important and omit other points to create an intentional narrative (Entman, 1993). There is some literature on the relationship between ethnic conflict and framing that focuses on how the causes of conflict are portrayed in news media and narrated by other domestic actors. Such studies have found that the causes of conflict were rarely referenced or were manipulated for certain ends and that this influenced the way that domestic audiences view the issue (Demarest & Langer, 2018; Kolas,

2017). However, these studies do not address how the issue is portrayed by governments to international audiences or by actors on the outside looking in. They also have focused on issues in Africa and India and not ethnic conflict in China.

Some research has been conducted on the framings of Islam and Muslims in Chinese state-sponsored news media. The findings show an emphasis upon negative stereotypes and non-acceptance of Islam in Chinese culture, as well as themes of assimilation and extremism (Luqiu & Yang, 2018; Lan & Navera, 2021; Stroup, 2021). The discovery of these frames shows the context surrounding the conflict and how this group is portrayed in media. There has also been some analysis surrounding the general framings of the uprisings in Xinjiang by the Chinese government, which focus on how the arguments have generally stayed the same over time, but more references of terrorism have emerged. Anti-Islam discourse has been the main theme that has emerged in this research (Rodriguez-Merino, 2018; Pokalova, 2013; Trédaniel & Lee, 2017).

Audience response to state media justification in online discussion has also been analyzed. This thread of research has demonstrated the minimization of some issues by the Chinese news media and the contrast of emotional framing that the government uses to show the destructive nature of the conflict to Chinese citizens (Zhang, 2017). In addition, comparative analyses between the United States and China regarding key events and scandals have found that the U.S. portrays China in a negative light by emphasizing details of particular events, while the Chinese government focused on maintaining credibility and evading responsibility (Feng et al., 2012).

I hope to add upon this research by comparing the differences between the Chinese and U.S. news media in the Xinjiang situation and how they frame the causes of conflict, an area that has not been studied in the framing literature.

# Conceptualization

Framings of an issue may or may not be reflective of what is happening on the ground. It will be difficult to make policy decisions that will effectively deal with the issue if framings are not congruent with the way the politics are unfolding. I develop a framework of congruency and incongruency between framings and ongoing politics. The role of communication surrounding an issue is crucial because it is what promotes understanding and action. Finding the relationship between this communication to what the research has determined regarding the causes of conflict will help us find disparities or connections that will enable us to have a greater sense of what is occurring around the issue to better respond to it.

By internal actors, I am referring to individuals or groups who are communicating about a conflict within their own country or a group with interests that are embedded in the conflict. They may or may not have the capacity to change what is happening but are observing what is inducing the conflict and are directly embroiled in it. Internal actors may be motivated to hide or distort what is happening, especially when they are governments or groups who have culpability in grievances or desire to maintain control. External actors are those who are not participating in the conflict or do not have directly tied involvement in the conflict. As observers, they may have different information from those involved internally. They have different interests surrounding the conflict and use their framings to portray the conflict in a way that serves their interests and perspective.

The differences between the framings between internal and external actors are informative because they uncover understanding of the situation in greater depth. When there is a mismatch between these perspectives we can understand that there is discrepancy in the various intentions and that the actors are using the framings to shape the narrative in a way that will

serve their purposes. The diversity in framings also helps us construct a more complete picture of the situation and how different actors are perceiving it, whether anyone is recognizing the causes of the conflict and if they are choosing to portray those causes in a way that allows for action and reconciliation or one that dismisses the role of those issues in the conflict.

First, an expected framing is derived as a narrative that is closely related to the ongoing political processes as theorized within the political science literature. A corresponding framing – the words and phrases the actors might use – is connected to each cause. These words and phrases are what we would expect to see in the media if they were portraying the situation in a way that reflects what is happening at the root of the conflict; therefore, I refer to them as expected framings (Table 2).

**Table 2**Expected Framings Derived from Causes

Causes	Expected Framing
Large Group (Cause 1)	X
Lack of Power in Government (Cause 2)	Y
Grievances from Ethnic Favoritism (Cause 3)	Z

Second, a comparison is made between the expected framings from the objectively identified causes within the political science literature and the actual framings that are evident in the media. This is done for both internal and external actors, which is demonstrated in Table 3.

These are described as actual framings because they are the published representations of the conflict.

**Table 3**Actual Framings

Objectively Identified Cause	Expected Framing	Purported /Framed Cause by Internal Actors	Purported/Framed Cause by External Actors
Cause 1	X	X or Not X	X or Not X
Cause 2	Y	Y or Not Y	Y or Not Y

Finally, a comparison between the actual framings and the expected framings identify patterns of congruence and incongruence (Table 4). If the framings are congruent, there is alignment between the phrases and words the internal or external actors are utilizing to describe the situation and what scholars promote as the main causes of conflict. If framings are incongruent, there are no such connections to these causes and the actors are connecting back to other causes or there is no reference to a cause. I identify examples of these frames to aid in the analysis of the differences between the intentions and observations of the actors involved.

**Table 4**Comparison of Expected Framings to Actual Framings

Expected Fram	ning Congruent? Y or N	Observations/Examples
X	No	
Y	Yes	

The general framework is used to analyze the conflict between Uyghur Muslims and the Chinese Communist Party in the People's Republic of China. Circumstances connected to the

various causes of a commitment problem are present in this conflict, making it a suitable candidate for study. I use this framework to see whether framings of the internal actors, or the Chinese news media, and the external actors, or the United States news media, are congruent with the causes that have been established.

# Methodology

I used a content analysis to compare the framings used by the Associated Press (AP) and China in reference to the causes of conflict. The analysis used a sample of articles from the key Chinese news outlets (*The People's Daily* and *China Daily*) from the period of January 2017, the year when the allegation of internment camps started, to September 2022. The samples were selected by using the key words "Xinjiang" and "Uyghur," collecting 156 articles from the *People's Daily* and 321 from *China Daily*. Xinjiang shows up often in the articles as solely a region in China, hence 208 articles were not relevant to the issue and were eliminated from the population. A random sample of the remaining articles was formed by assigning a number to each article and generating 30 random numbers using a Python program.

Another sample was created to examine the narratives of non-Chinese actors regarding conflict in Xinjiang. I coded a sample of 30 articles of the 169 retrieved from *Associated Press* during the same time period, under the key words "Xinjiang" and "Uyghur," and using the same system to generate the sample. *The Associated Press* is the largest U.S.-based global news agency, providing information to 15,000 news media outlets throughout the world (Report for America, 2021). This means that while it does not represent every external actor or the voice of the United States government, it portrays the perspectives of U.S. journalists as they convey information throughout the world. This external perspective would be the one that much of the United States and the rest of the world is exposed to.

The statements referencing the causes of conflict in Xinjiang were coded for words related to the four expected frames. For example, words such as *ethnic minority group*, *rights*, *freedoms*, *counterterrorism*, *extremism*, *economic benefits*, *political opposition*, and *population growth*. The grievance frame in my analysis was expanded into two separate frames of economic disparities and religious repression because they are distinct in the context of the conflict in Xinjiang. Coding involved classifying the wording in the articles and extracting quotes that demonstrated the frames. If at least one frame was recorded, I categorized the article as congruent to the relevant causes of conflict. If there was no language related to any of the expected frames, it was grouped as incongruent, and I listed any words and themes that arose as reasons for the conflict in an "other" category.

My use of articles in the English language reflects the intent to identify the way China is portraying this issue to international actors. The media, which is tightly controlled by the state, is China's primary instrument of propaganda efforts and there has been a clear division between its domestic and external systems, in which the latter's target audience is the foreign community. The Chinese government's main intention is to temper global concerns and wariness about their actions (Alvaro, 2015). The articles in the sample are therefore relevant in demonstrating how China justifies its dealings in Xinjiang and what they want the world to consider as the narrative of the issue, and hence the "truth" of what is occurring and why.

In many articles, especially the Chinese ones, a cause of conflict was not explicitly stated. I considered any implicit reference to the circumstances surrounding the conflict or words that demonstrated the framing of the type of conflict with an underlying issue to represent a legacy or acknowledgment of the causes and viewed these as instances of the framings of the causes. An example of an explicit cause being referenced is apparent in this quote: "In response

to the strong calls of people of all ethnic groups for combating violent terrorist crimes, Xinjiang has combined crackdown on terrorism with preventive measures." It asserts that terrorist mobilization is the primary cause of crackdowns against the Uyghur majority. Contrast that with the following quote, which acknowledges religious repression or inequalities as causes of conflict while denying it is happening: "The state protects the lawful rights and interests of every ethnic group ... and protects the normal religious activities and fulfills the reasonable religious demands of believers in accordance with the law." This is an example of an implicit framing because it uses the frame of ethnic grievance to justify why conflict is not happening, which is a reference to ethnic grievance as a source of conflict.

# **Analysis**

# **Economic Disparities**

Frames reflecting the cause of economic disparities were related to the economic state of the region, such as *prosperity*, *jobs*, and *economic benefits*. This framing was more present in the Chinese articles; eight of the Chinese articles had frames that reference this cause of conflict, whereas only two of the Associated Press articles did.

# **Internal Framings**

The most common framing present related to economic disparities in the Chinese articles was that the government has promoted economic growth and prosperity and "all ethnic groups" have benefitted. The articles contain this framing often to justify their actions in Xinjiang as vocational training centers to promote economic development. "All ethnic groups" is a phrase that is repeated across the articles, demonstrating the understanding that if there were disparities

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> People's Daily, December 9, 2019. See Appendix.

in economic development between the ethnic groups, this would cause grievances that would lead to conflict. However, because conflict, in their eyes, is not present, they use the economic growth of the region as evidence that there is no basis for conflict.

Two more explicit framings used in the articles related to economic disparities were evident. For example, the quote "poverty, unemployment, a lack of job opportunities are all conditions conducive to violent extremism and the process of radicalization" demonstrates the framing that low economic well-being fosters terrorist activities. Thus by fostering economic development in the region, conflict is likely to decrease. This directly reflects the theorized cause that economic grievances lead to conflict. The internal actors use this framing again to justify the actions they took of building "vocational training centers" as necessary to curb the effects of mobilization and terrorism by fostering economic prosperity.

The next framing is seen in the following quote, "The gap between Xinjiang and the rest of China seemed far wider than anything that could be measured in terms of economy or security [in 1993]." This framing asserts that there was a difference between economic development in Xinjiang compared to the rest of China in the past, acknowledging that this could have contributed to conflict. However, this is used as a comparison in the context of current economic growth and prosperity in the region, again with the statement that this growth has "benefitted all ethnic groups." This framing echoes the grievance cause but uses it to demonstrate that the Chinese government has curbed the impacts of this cause, signaling a narrative that conflict no longer exists in the region.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> China Daily, December 11, 2019. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Zao, February 24, 2021. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Zao, February 24, 2021. See Appendix.

It is advantageous for China to use this frame as a justification for their actions in the region. If the establishment of vocational centers is framed in terms of economic development and conflict is caused by economic disparities, the government's actions are portrayed as warranted to prevent conflict and ensure the prosperity of the region.

# External Framings

The economic grievance framing is not as present in the framing of the situation by external actors, showing that emphasizing this cause may not be as relevant or important to their understanding of the situation. One article directly refers to the disparity between those of ethnic minority and the Han majority at the root of the grievances that caused mobilization by Uyghurs, leading to the Chinese government's crackdown. This statement says, "Uyghurs... have long resented Beijing's heavy-handed rule and the influx of migrants who have reaped economic benefits in the resource-rich region." The use of the words "long resented" demonstrate a grievance frame, which is connected to the "economic benefits" that were "reaped" by migrants and not by the Uyghurs. The phrase "In the resource-rich region" is part of a narrative intended to show that there was economic prosperity to be made, but the Uyghurs did not get to tap into those benefits because of the control of the Chinese government.

The other reference to an economic cause by the AP uses the words "voluntary job centers" to describe what Beijing claims they have established in the region. While not an explicit reflection of the economic grievance cause, framing it in terms of how China views the issue as economic demonstrates that the AP is, to some degree, acknowledging their perspective.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Leicester, February 5, 2022. See Appendix.

The appearance of only two examples of this framing demonstrates that the economic aspect is less salient for the AP than for China.

The economic disparities framing may not be as salient for the United States because many of the actions they have taken to counter China in this area have been to enforce economic bans on products exported from this region. If this cause was emphasized at the root of the conflict, it would not make sense for the United States to put economic bans on the region because that would further exacerbate the conflict.

# **Religious or Ethnic Repression**

Framings based on the cause of religious or ethnic repression as a grievance were the most present of the causes. Many of these framings were implicit, especially on the Chinese side. The following words were used to code for expected framings: *ethnic group*, *religious*, *oppression*, *discrimination*, *assimilation*, and *restrictions*. Nineteen of the Chinese articles had this frame present and fourteen of the AP articles did.

#### Internal Actors

Some of the framings used in the Chinese newspapers relating to religious or ethnic repression may be interpreted as acknowledgment of external allegations of oppression based on ethnicity and religion. The language of the articles deny the claims, but including the frames of ethnic and religious repression that others have promoted shows that they recognize religious or ethnic repression as a potential cause for conflict if there were conflict and that the issue itself is related to ethnicity.

In response to this acknowledgment, the Chinese news articles emphasize repeatedly the protection of rights of the ethnic groups in the region through statements such as "legitimate

rights and interests of people of all ethnic groups in Xinjiang are fully protected." It is interesting to note that they use close to the same wording across all the articles with this frame when talking about the rights of ethnic and religious groups. "Legitimate" or "lawful" or "according to the law" are words they use to describe the rights of the people and is used in every phrase that references "rights." The only exceptions are specified, as in this statement: "rights to life, health, and development of the people of all ethnic groups." In these framings, the articles always use the word "all" when referring to ethnic groups. This is an acknowledgment back to the cause of conflict, because if there is a certain group that is left out of this protection, that would be a cause for grievance. The articles emphasize repeatedly that this is not the case in Xinjiang. Every phrase referring to the rights also uses some form of the words "protect" or "safeguard," which emphasizes that rights of the population are safe and secure in Xinjiang, contrary to what external actors and the religious repression cause of conflict imply.

Another framing present that is related to the religious repression cause of conflict is that people have religious and other freedoms in the province, again deflecting the allegations that there is religious repression in the region. This is apparent in phrases such as "all expressed satisfaction with local religious freedom," or "laborers of all ethnic groups have complete freedom of choosing their jobs and careers destinations without any limitation on personal freedom." The presence of the word "all" is again universal in these phrases, demonstrating

<sup>-</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> China Daily, December 26, 2021. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> People's Daily, December 9, 2019. *US double standard on anti-terrorism disdained by international community*. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Zao, February 24, 2021. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Chenglong, June 25, 2022. See Appendix.

China's emphasis that there is no targeted exclusion of any group and therefore, no cause for conflict.

Another type of repeated statement that references the religious repression frame is some variation on the phrase "ethnic unity and religious harmony," demonstrating the emphasis that there is no conflict based on ethnicity and that ethnic and religious differences are not salient in Xinjiang. These frames are often present with the other frames of the protection of ethnic and religious rights, showing that a peaceful and united region is the result of these protections.

An additional framing that is present once in the articles is that the Uyghurs, rather than being repressed, receive preferential treatment. This is again an acknowledgment to the religious repression cause of conflict and a response to the allegations by external actors. This is apparent in the statement, "Ethnic minorities in the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region enjoy preferential policies on giving birth and receiving education. Muslims in China have never been discriminated under the country's policy and law." China reframes the situation in the opposite way from the repression frame, stating that ethnic minorities are those that are benefitted rather than repressed and emphasizes again that there is no discrimination against Muslims.

#### External Actors

Some articles from the Associated Press that used a framing related to ethnic or religious repression reference the framings of China, specifically that their efforts are to "restore order and ethnic cohesion." The AP articles emphasize the Sinicization of Islam as a goal of Xi and use statements from the Chinese government in their discussion about the conflict. This demonstrates

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> China Daily, September 15, 2022. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Global Times, December 18, 2019. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Associated Press, May 24, 2022. Associated Press, May 23, 2022. See Appendix.

that the external actors view China's portrayal as important to the issue because it shows the justification and framing China has surrounding the issue and that ethnic and cultural differences are salient to them. They acknowledge and quote these statements from China and then frame the situation with words that have much more negative connotations. For example, the AP quotes Xi saying, "Islam in China must be Chinese in orientation" and "educating and guiding people of all ethnic groups to strengthen their identification with the Chinese nation," demonstrating the Chinese perspective and justification The article then frames the situation as Uyghurs "forced to reject their native culture" and "obliterate their distinct cultural identities," evoking much stronger and more negative language. This shows that the AP is emphasizing the negative implications of the statements and framings by the Chinese government.

There are a few frames that focus on the historical nature of ethnic tensions in the area, demonstrating how religious or ethnic repression has fueled grievances leading to conflict. One of them says, "China has long suspected the Uighurs, who are mostly Muslim ... because of their distinct culture, language and religion," showing directly that both ethnicity and religion have worried China for a long time and these sentiments have fueled potential for ethnic conflict now. Another frame shows the direct relationship between these repressive policies and grievance. The word "resentment" is closely tied to grievances and the phrase "severe restrictions on language, culture and religion and inflaming a cycle of resentment and radicalization" and ethnic demonstrate a close relationship between repressive policy aimed at specific religious and ethnic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Associated Press, July 16, 2022. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Associated Press, May 23, 2022. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Mendoza, July 3, 2020. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Shih, August 3, 2017. See Appendix.

groups and brewing tensions that escalate to conflict. The AP is directly addressing religious and ethnic grievances as the reasons behind this conflict.

Many of the other instances of the ethnic and religious repression frame are very direct and specific references to repression based on ethnicity and religion. There was repetitions of similar words and phrases implying discrimination, such as "repression," "oppressing," "singled out and targeted," "criminalized," "discriminated against," and "crack down." All of these words are connected to words such as "ethnic groups," "religion," "Uyghur," "minorities." This usage demonstrates that the discrimination is on ethnic or religious basis and that the recipient of the discrimination is this minority group population with a salient ethnic or religious identity. There was also a repetition of words and phrases that emphasized that this discrimination is instituted into governmental programs, such as "program of repression" and "systematic attacks." They also emphasize that the restrictions are "severe" across the different frames. These frames directly implicate the Chinese government in ethnic and religious repression and demonstrate that this is a cause of ethnic conflict.

The other framings that relate to this cause describe the issue as affecting Uyghurs as an ethnic group. This was not used as a direct framing of the cause of the conflict, but it does reflect that the conflict at its root stems from a salient ethnic identity.

# **Large Minority Group Population**

The framing around a large minority group population was coded using words such as population growth or large group. This framing had only one instance in the sample of Chinese newspaper articles I analyzed and was not present at all in the AP articles.

# Internal Actors

The only framing related to the salience of a large minority group in the Chinese newspapers was a reference to the population growth of the Uyghurs in Xinjiang. The article cited that "the population of Uyghurs in Xinjiang grew from 10.17 million to 12.72 million, registering a surge of 25 percent, a figure outnumbering the 14-percent increase in the total population of Xinjiang and the two percent increase in the Han population." A reference to population growth would demonstrate the worrisome nature of a growing minority population to the maintenance of power in the region, illustrating a potential cause for conflict. The inclusion of this frame demonstrates that this is a reality that Chinese actors consider. However, they use this frame to defend against the implications of genocide allegations by asserting that they are not restricting births and that the group is prospering. This is another instance where Chinese actors acknowledge a potential cause for conflict and use it to justify why conflict is not happening in Xinjiang.

# **External Actors**

There were no references to the population or the large nature of the group by external actors, demonstrating that this issue was not as relevant to their portrayal of the conflict. This may be because the population of the group is not a threat to them as they are not directly involved, or the population seems irrelevant or does not matter as much to their interests as other factors that contribute to the conflict.

# **Exclusion from Government/Lack of Political Power**

Lack of political power or exclusion from government as a cause was coded by looking for words relating to government, politics, or law or acknowledgment of a desire for greater

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> China Daily, July 8, 2022. See Appendix.

freedoms, rights, or representation in government. This framing only had two references in both the Chinese and the AP articles.

#### Internal Actors

On the Chinese side, there were only two implicit references to a lack of political power: a reference that "all ethnic groups in the region... have their rights guaranteed by law" and that "Xinjiang enjoys political stability." Both cases reference political freedom and stability as important to mitigating conflict, again justifying why conflict is not occurring in this region through framing the relationship between government and the people as stable and inclusive. There were so little mentions of political power in their framings because, as newspapers that are highly monitored and censored by the government, they would not want to directly reference Uyghur exclusion from government. Such reference would undermine the government's authority and put them at fault. Instead, the narrative used political stability and rights as evidence for why conflict could not be happening.

# External Actors

The two framings in the AP news articles were more explicit than those utilized by

Chinese actors. They employed this frame as a direct reference to the cause for conflict by

demonstrating that China's political system creates possibility for grievances and that the conflict

stems from the Uyghurs' desire for greater freedoms. One of the statements is in active voice,

giving agency in the conflict directly to the Chinese government: "China's ruling Communist

Party allows no political opposition and strictly limits free speech and rights to assembly and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> People's Daily, December 9, 2019. China allows no one to back terrorist forces. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Jin, December 25, 2021. See Appendix.

religious expression."<sup>20</sup> The other is more passive, demonstrating the desire for further freedom in the conflict, but not emphasizing who is responsible for the situation: "people imprisoned over calls for greater religious, political and cultural freedoms."<sup>21</sup> These framings of the conflict demonstrate that external actors are more willing to emphasize the Chinese government's exclusion and restrictions on freedoms as a cause of conflict than the Chinese newspapers, but it is not a major focus in their framing of the conflict.

# Mobilization/Terrorism

The final cause of conflict, mobilization of the group, was prevalent in the frames on both sides. There was also an equal number of articles between the actors, with 16 articles with the frame present from both samples. This was a prominent framing because of the close relationship between the mobilization and the government's actions.

# **Internal Actors**

The mobilization or terrorism cause was the only cause of conflict that is directly acknowledged as a cause of the conflict and reason for their actions in the frames by the Chinese newspapers. This may be because the government's actions were a direct response to terrorist activities that threatened their peace and power. It also does not incriminate the government as the actors responsible for the conflict and their actions can be justified when framed as a "war on terror" just as other nations have framed their actions.

The government's actions are repeatedly referred to as "China's de-radicalization and anti-terrorism efforts," demonstrating that this is how they want their actions to be perceived

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Associated Press, May 24, 2022. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Associated Press, May 23, 2022. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> People's Daily, December 9, 2019. US double standards on anti-terrorism disdained by international community.

and what they feel is at the root of the conflict. The narrative even says that "to address the problem at its source," the government established centers to "educate and rehabilitate lawbreakers and those who have committed minor crimes" to "eliminate the influence of terrorism and extremism on them." <sup>23</sup> This narrative emphasizes the cause of the conflict to be terrorism and justifies government actions in those terms. The articles also emphasize that the terrorist attacks were frequent and spreading, and therefore, the government needed to institute "crackdown" "with preventive measures." <sup>24</sup> This emphasis on the destructive and problematic nature of the terrorism justifies government actions further.

The Chinese narrative also emphasized what has happened with terrorism since their crackdown in their framing of the issue to defend their actions further. The phrase "safe and secure" is repeated to describe Xinjiang now because of their counter-terrorism measures. There is a repetition of the word "now," to emphasize the present state of Xinjiang. There is a sense that before, there was a problem but because of their effective policy, there is no present conflict.

Another frame that emerged was a repeated emphasis that the conflict is not about religion or ethnicity, but terrorism. This was obvious in phrases such as "not about human rights, ethnicity or religion, but about fighting violence, terrorism and separatism."<sup>25</sup> The narratives aim to escape culpability and the framings of external actors by using the terrorism frame as the main cause of the conflict.

#### External Actors

People's Daily, December 9, 2019. *China allows no one to back terrorist forces*. People's Daily, December 5, 2019. China Daily, December 11, 2019. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> english.ts.cn, July 19, 2019. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> english.ts.cn, July 19, 2019. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> People's Daily, December 9, 2019. China allows no one to back terrorist forces. See Appendix.

The framings by the AP news media focus on China's narrative of the situation as counter-terrorism. They acknowledge that violent mobilization did occur in substantial amounts, by saying things such as "the resentment erupted into a series of violent incidents" or "China saw a wave of Xinjiang-related terrorist attacks through 2016." They do not separate China as an actor from those phrases, however, and use phrases such as "China says" or "labeled terrorism by China" to emphasize that this is China's framing of the issue.

# **Complexity**

While it is informative to analyze each of the framings of the causes of conflict to discover the interests of the actors surrounding the issue, much more emerges in the analysis of the relationships between the framings and the presence of multiple framings together. Thirteen of both the Chinese and AP articles had at least two of the frames present.

# Internal Actors

In the Chinese framing, terrorism frames were interconnected with economic disparities and religious repression frames. In those frames, the media attempted to emphasize terrorism as the primary problem and detach it from the root cause. However, as has been asserted, terrorism does not emerge from nothing. It is fueled by the grievances emanating from economic disparities and repressive policies. This is acknowledged in the Chinese framings, demonstrating that they do recognize this, though their other framings seek to deny it.

For example, one sentence that references both the economic grievances frame and the terrorism frame connect the two: "poverty, unemployment, a lack of job opportunities are all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Leicester, February 5, 2022. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Lederer, May 12, 2021. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Leicester, February 5, 2022. See Appendix.

conditions conducive to violent extremism and the process of radicalization."<sup>29</sup> This justification of the "vocational centers" to combat the possibility of economic disparities that might fuel terrorism demonstrate that the Chinese media sees a relationship between economic well-being and terrorism. We can then deduce that because terrorism was happening, there were economic disparities. This shows that China, though it denies any conflict is occurring and that they had a part to play, in their justification of the issue acknowledge that economic disparities is the root of the problem.

There were also connections between the ethnic and religious repression frame and the terrorism frame, where articles emphasized again the idea of "all ethnic groups" and how they were calling for terrorism to end. The narrative was trying to show that the conflict is not an ethnic issue by emphasizing that all ethnic groups feel the same way about terrorism. However, the articles are still referencing the salience of ethnicity in this issue by including that frame and are detaching terrorism from its source. Another frame is an acknowledgment that the extremism and terrorism is "religious" in nature, which indicates that there may be religious repression at the root. This frame is contradictory to another frame that is repeated in the articles, they assertion that it is "not an ethnic or religious matter, but a matter of separatism, terrorism and extremism." In this way, the media is attempting to use the terrorism frame as the only cause to justify why ethnic and religious repression is not happening, even though in other framings where both framings are present, there is an acknowledgment that there is a relationship between religion and terrorism.

#### External Actors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> China Daily, December 11, 2019. See Appendix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Global Times, December 16, 2019. See Appendix.

For the AP, articles with multiple framings together emphasized more of the relationship between the causes and that they are present and influence one another. For example, one article says, "Uyghurs, who are culturally, linguistically and religiously distinct from Han Chinese, have long resented Beijing's heavy-handed rule and the influx of migrants who have reaped economic benefits in the resource-rich region. The resentment erupted into a series of violent incidents labeled terrorism by China." This directly demonstrates how ethnic and religious differences, government policy, and economic disparities led to mobilization. They more directly acknowledge the role of grievances in contributing to terrorism and the conflict than China does.

This contrast between the Chinese and the AP framings shows that Chinese actors may be trying to only emphasize the causes that are most apparent and shy away from possible implications of guilt in the grievance cause. When the Chinese actors have other intentions in bringing up other causes to justify their actions they try to disconnect them from the mobilization; though this sometimes backfires when a relationship between the causes is developed in their narrative. The external actors, on the other hand, intend to bring up the causes that are in the background, because they have no strategic interest to exclude the drivers of the conflict. They may be desirous to emphasize what is behind the conflict in the province to highlight China's responsibility for the conflict.

# **Incongruence**

The analysis demonstrated that most of the articles did connect back to the causes of ethnic conflict. This shows that the way actors surrounding the situation talk about it in a way that does recognize what fuels conflict and that these causes have explanatory power. Eleven AP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Leicester, February 5, 2022. See Appendix.

articles and three Chinese articles did not frame the situation in the context of the causes. It was more prevalent for China to reference these framings because they were trying to justify the assertion that there is no conflict and their actions, and refuting the causes of conflict would be a logical way to make this argument. However, in their acknowledgment of these issues, they demonstrated that there is salience surrounding the causes, at least in the form of the allegations they receive from other actors that they then must refute.

The AP articles that do not have references to the causes of conflict have other objectives and do not talk about the situation in depth. Instead, they use it as an example of abuses that the Chinese government are instituting. The reference to Xinjiang was often in a list with other issues. Uncovering the roots of the situation is not portrayed as important to external actors in the framing in many of the articles, but it is an additional argument that they cite to demonstrate why there are tensions with China. These tensions are the main concern for external actors rather than the causes of Xinjiang conflict and what is happening there, and the framings they use highlight this.

The framework of incongruence and congruence asserts that when framings are incongruent they are disconnected from the root causes, and when they are congruent they are reflecting an acknowledgment of the causes of conflict. Both actors used framings that were congruent, but there were also cases where their framings were incongruent. This finding is parallel with framing theory because it demonstrates that actors modify the narratives they use to define the situation depending on their intention and purpose in describing the situation (Entman, 1993). For the Chinese actors the majority of their framings were congruent, because their intention was to justify that conflict is not happening by refuting a case for the causes. The few articles that were incongruent tried to call attention to other actors' actions in the conflict, such

as international bodies that put forth allegations or bans on the region. This may indicate that when Chinese voices cannot refute the causes they try to shift attention away from what is happening internally to the way that others are "attack[ing] and smear[ing] Xinjiang" and "interfer[ing] in China's internal affairs." The AP framings are congruent when they attempt to outline the situation and demonstrate what is fueling the conflict, especially when it comes to China's guilt in creating grievances and oppressing the Uyghurs. The AP framings are incongruent when they are merely using Xinjiang as an example of human rights violations in China in a discussion about other issues. In the case of the incongruent framings, they do not see it as important to outline the connection to the causes but use the incident generally as evidence for why tensions with China are high.

# Conclusion

This analysis has demonstrated that the framings of the AP, as an external actor, and China regarding the situation in Xinjiang have been mostly congruent with the causes of ethnic conflict. Media narratives use wording that demonstrates that they acknowledge what could be causing the conflict. As is consistent with the concept of framing, they intentionally use the frames that would further their purposes and interests. In the case of the Chinese media, the framings related to the causes of conflict are used to justify their actions and deny that conflict is happening. However, as the relationships between the frames were examined more closely, some inconsistencies emerged, such as the relationships between economic and religious grievances and terrorism, demonstrating that in recognizing these causes and referencing them these issues are present and need to be addressed. In the case of the AP articles, there are more direct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> China Daily, May 25, 2021. See Appendix.

references to the causes, especially to show China's guilt in the situation. They also choose to echo the framings of China often to emphasize the Chinese perspective vis-à-vis the outside perspective on what is happening. They do not place as much emphasis on the economic nature of the conflict as the Chinese media, which could be because of their economic policies against China and against this region. The framings of the AP thus emphasize continued tense relations in U.S.-China competition and frame the situation in Xinjiang as further justification against Chinese governance and way of life.

This analysis, while it has some explanatory power as an initial examination of the issue, has some limitations. One of those limitations is the use of only *The Associated Press* as the source for the external perspective. There are many external actors with interests in this issue, but this analysis only examines the narrative from one news agency source in the United States. Other actors may see things differently. Another limitation is the coding was only performed by one person, so the interpretations of the articles are subject to my understanding of what they were trying to say. A more effective analysis would have had multiple people code and compare the differences between their results. The sample, though significant in number, was not comprehensive. The results should be considered in the context of the study and further analysis is necessary to confirm and generalize the results, though the conclusions can still be utilized as basis for consideration and further study.

Understanding that the situation is framed as connected to the causes of conflict allows us to recognize that there is room for policy to be made as based in those causes. However, those actors that have agency in the situation need to be determined and need to confront these causes directly for change to be made. Further analysis could show how the framings of the situation

have influenced the perceptions of the conflict by those involved and what is felt regarding agency and capacity for change and who is viewed as those who need to address the conflict.

Word Count: 8181 words

### **Capstone Reflection**

Completing the capstone was a rigorous process, but it was meaningful to expand my undergraduate experience beyond what was expected of me and show myself what I am capable of. The hard work and effort it required was difficult to manage on top of my other work, but I also felt that I was given the tools to have success through the mentorship of Dr. Colin Flint and the encouragement from Honors. This experience has set me on the path to success in my future because of the discipline, determination, and drive I developed as chose to do something that stretched me.

One thing that was crucial to my success with the capstone was the choice to reach out to professors about their research early in my time as a student. As I got acquainted with the research process and the work that professors do, I became more comfortable with the idea of research and created connections that set the pace of my entire undergraduate career. Because of that initial meeting, I was able to develop a relationship with Dr. Flint, help him with his research, learn about further opportunities to deepen my learning and understanding, and prepare for my own capstone research.

Dr. Flint demonstrated that he believed in me early on by trusting me with projects related to his research and expressing his observations about my capacity, which then continued into his willingness to mentor me in my capstone. His confidence in me was an empowering force throughout the time I worked with him. I always felt so frustrated with my progress before each of our meetings, but every time we met, I left inspired and assured that I could continue forward. He came to embody for me a perfect balance of positive encouragement, support, and motivation that enabled me to have success in this project. I admire the way he took the time to see me, see where I was, and acknowledge that place while transforming and reframing what I had accomplished as a springboard to further progress. I wish that I had reached out to him more frequently over last summer when I had a meeting with another professor and experiences with research in an internship that led to a lot of burnout. I never wanted to disappoint him, so it was hard to go to him in moments where I felt I had failed, but I never regretted the times I did because those were the moments that I found newfound perspective and motivation. His mentorship demonstrated to me the power that kindness and caring can have on a person's life and success, which I hope to take into the relationships and leadership roles I have in the future. I have learned about my strengths, like writing, critical thinking and engaging with ideas, and my aspirations, such as presenting with more clarity and choosing to encourage others, through his investment and involvement in my success.

The project itself was a direct extension from the concepts I learned throughout my undergraduate experience. Engaging with projects in my classes and considering the relationships between them allowed me to develop the framework for this research. My favorite part was taking the tools of both communication studies and political science research I had learned and applying them to a more ambitious endeavor that I feel represents the growth and skillset I have gained in my undergraduate career. It is a clear summation of my experience because it demonstrates the interplay between the two disciplines I have studied and how they interact in a conflict situation. This has immense value to me because it has helped me discover

and articulate why both of my fields of study are important in understanding what happens at a global level and how systems interact. I would recommend that any student should get involved in research because of the deepened learning I gained as I engaged with the process of developing a theoretical framework and analyzing and communicating results.

I was grateful that I began to think about the project early because it gave me the opportunity to work on it methodically and have sufficient time with other things on my plate. A challenge I faced was balancing such an extensive project with the other demands on my time. I should have used the work plan as more of a guide in this and redeveloped the schedule as time went on to have a clear big picture laid out, but the deadlines Dr. Flint and I set in our meetings pushed me forward and enabled me to finish the project in the end. Those meetings were crucial to my progress.

My research has obvious global implications because I was able to gain new perspective on how conflict is presented and what developments and current events are occurring in our world. I have developed a passion for aiding people in conflict and finding the root causes to empower them, which I feel will translate directly into the future work I hope to do in the areas of immigration law, peacebuilding, diplomacy, or mediation. However, one other meaningful thing that happened in this process was the experience of presenting my work to my local and national communities. I tried to demonstrate the significance of the work I did, and I was also able to learn from others' research and feel more informed about the challenges that researchers across disciplines and regions of the world are working through. As I listened to others and engaged with their questions, I saw the connections between my work and theirs and how everything in our world interacts. This has given me a more well-rounded understanding of our many world systems and the importance of education, as well as encouraged me to continue to learn, ask questions, and engage with the community around me.

The biggest triumph of this process to me was that it was a *choice* to further engage and get involved and it has paid dividends in my experience, competence, and confidence. It was demanding and has been a source of a lot of pressure over the past year, but I feel so much more prepared to enter the workforce and articulate my abilities because of what I was able to accomplish through it. It has become a defining factor in my development over my college experience.

Word Count: 1060 words

#### **Works Cited**

- Alvaro, J. J. (2015). Analysing China's English-language media. *World Englishes*, *34*(2), 260–277.
  - https://doi.org/https://www.researchgate.net/publication/343022007\_Analysing\_China's\_E nglish-language\_media
- Cederman, L.-E., Wimmer, A., & Min, B. (2010). Why do ethnic groups rebel? New Data and analysis. *World Politics*, 62(1), 87–119. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0043887109990219
- Chandra, K. (2006). What is ethnic identity and does it matter? Annual Review of Political Science, 9(1), 397–424. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.polisci.9.062404.170715
- Chung, C. (2018). China's Uyghur problem after the 2009 Urumqi riot: Repression, recompense, readiness, resistance. *Journal of Policing, Intelligence and Counter Terrorism, 13*(2), 185-201. https://doi-org.dist.lib.usu.edu/10.1080/18335330.2018.1475746
- De Luca, G., Hodler, R., Raschky, P., & Valsecchi, M. (2015). Ethnic favoritism: An axiom of politics? *SSRN Electronic Journal*. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2573621
- Demarest, L., & Langer, A. (2018). Peace journalism on a shoestring? conflict reporting in Nigeria's National News Media. Journalism, 22(3), 671–688. https://doi.org/10.1177/1464884918797611
- Eifert, B., Miguel, E., & Posner, D. N. (2010). Political competition and ethnic identification in Africa. *American Journal of Political Science*, *54*(2), 494–510. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5907.2010.00443.x

- Entman, R. M. (1993). Framing: Toward clarification of a fractured paradigm. *Journal of Communication*, 43(4), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.1993.tb01304.x
- Fearon, J. (1995). Ethnic War as a Commitment Problem. *Annual Meetings of the American Political Science Association*, 1–24.
- Feng, M., Brewer, P. R., & Ley, B. L. (2012). Framing the chinese baby formula scandal: A comparative analysis of US and Chinese News Coverage. *Asian Journal of Communication*, 22(3), 253–269. https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2012.662517
- Fjelde, H., & Østby, G. (2014). Socioeconomic inequality and communal conflict: A disaggregated analysis of Sub-Saharan Africa, 1990–2008. International Interactions, 40(5), 737–762. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050629.2014.917373
- Friedrichs, J. (2017). Sino-Muslim Relations: The Han, the Hui, and the Uyghurs. *Journal of Muslim Minority Affairs*, *37*(1), 55-79. https://doi-org.dist.lib.usu.edu/10.1080/13602004.2017.1294373.
- Guo, R. (2015). China's spatial (dis)integration: Political economy of the interethnic unrest in Xinjiang. Chandos Publishing.
- Horowitz, D. L. (1985). Ethnic groups in conflict. University of California Press.
- Lan, T. X., & Navera, G. S. (2021). The slanted beam: A critical discourse analysis of anti-Islam and anti-Muslim discourse in China. *Discourse & Society*, *33*(1), 107–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/09579265211048704

- Luqiu, L. R., & Yang, F. (2018). Islamophobia in China: News coverage, stereotypes, and Chinese Muslims' perceptions of themselves and Islam. Asian Journal of Communication, 28(6), 598–619. https://doi.org/10.1080/01292986.2018.1457063
- Kolås, Å. (2015). Framing the tribal: Ethnic violence in Northeast India. Asian Ethnicity, 18(1), 22–37. https://doi.org/10.1080/14631369.2015.1062050
- Pokalova, E. (2013). Authoritarian regimes against terrorism: Lessons from China. Critical Studies on Terrorism, 6(2), 279–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/17539153.2012.753202
- Posner, D. (2004). The political salience of cultural difference: Why Chewas and Tumbukas are allies in Zambia and adversaries in Malawi. *American Political Science Review*, 98(4), 529–545. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0003055404041334
- Report for America. (2021, August 18). Associated Press. Report for America. Retrieved April 17, 2023, from https://www.reportforamerica.org/newsrooms/associated-press-15/
- Rodríguez-Merino, P. A. (2018). Old 'counter-revolution', new 'terrorism': Historicizing the framing of violence in Xinjiang by the Chinese state. *Central Asian Survey*, *38*(1), 27–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/02634937.2018.1496066
- Smith Finley, J. (2020). Why scholars and activists increasingly fear a Uyghur genocide in Xinjiang. Journal of Genocide Research, 23(3), 348–370. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2020.1848109

- Smith Finley, J. (2019). Securitization, insecurity and conflict in contemporary Xinjiang: has PRC counter-terrorism evolved into state terror? *Central Asian Survey*, *38*(1), 1-26. https://doi-org.dist.lib.usu.edu/10.1080/02634937.2019.1586348
- Soloshcheva, M. A. (2017). The Uyghur terrorism: Phenomenon and genesis. *Iran and the Caucasus*, 21(4), 415-430. DOI: 10.1163/1573384X-20170408.
- Stroup, D. R. (2021). Good Minzu and Bad Muslims: Islamophobia in China's State Media.

  Nations and Nationalism, 27(4), 1231–1252. https://doi.org/10.1111/nana.12758
- Sun, W. (2019). A textual analysis of Chinese netizens' reactions to counter-terrorism reports on the people's daily from 2010 to 2017. *Media in the Global Context*, 163–187. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-26450-5\_7
- Trédaniel, M. & Lee, Pak K. (2018). Explaining the Chinese framing of the "terrorist" violence in Xinjiang: Insights from securitization theory. *Nationalities Papers*, 46(1), 177-195. https://doi.org/10.1080/00905992.2017.1351427.
- Vinson, L. T. (2018). Disaggregating ethnicity and conflict patterns: Evidence from religious and tribal violence in Nigeria. Ethnopolitics, 19(1), 19–44.

  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/17449057.2018.1536376">https://doi.org/10.1080/17449057.2018.1536376</a>
- Thaut Vinson, L., & Rudloff, P. (2021). Ethnicities and conflict: A survey experiment on the effect of narrative framing on perceptions in Jos, Nigeria. Ethnopolitics, 21(1), 80–101. https://doi.org/10.1080/17449057.2020.1863019
- Zang, X. (2013). Major determinants of Uyghur ethnic consciousness in Ürümchi. Modern Asian Studies, 47(6), 2046–2071. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1017/s0026749x12000558">https://doi.org/10.1017/s0026749x12000558</a>

- Zenz, A. (2018). 'thoroughly reforming them towards a healthy heart attitude': China's political re-education campaign in Xinjiang. Central Asian Survey, 38(1), 102–128. https://doi.org/10.1080/02634937.2018.1507997
- Zhang, L. (2017). Divergence or convergence: Interaction between news media frames and public frames in online Discussion Forum in China. *Communications in Computer and Information Science*, 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-6805-8\_22

# **Appendix**

# Sample of Articles from The People's Daily and China Daily

- Chenglong, J. (2022, June 25). *Key PVC maker in Xinjiang rejects 'forced labor' claim*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202206/25/WS62b6823aa310fd2b29e68894.html
- China Daily Global. (2021, September 17). *US, biggest saboteur of post-WWII Global Peace*. World Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202109/17/WS6143f07ea310e0e3a6822381.html
- China Daily. (2019, December 11). *Xinjiang's human rights progress an indisputable fact*. Opinion Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/11/WS5df03f96a310cf3e3557d4c7.html
- China Daily. (2019, December 5). *China Foundation for Human Rights Development Condemns US house passage of Xinjiang-related bill*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/05/WS5de8f512a310cf3e3557c3f7.html
- China Daily. (2020, June 5). Family members of so-called Uyghur activists harassed, imprisoned or arbitrarily detained in Xinjiang? Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202006/05/WS5f0fc607a310834817259e5f.html
- China Daily. (2020, May 16). *Mihrigul Tursun's story about Xinjiang training centers fabricated*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202005/16/WS5f10002ca310834817259f22.html
- China Daily. (2021, December 21). *Washington's hysteria for trade bullying*. China Daily. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://login.dist.lib.usu.edu/login?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww-proquest-com.dist.lib.usu.edu%2Fnewspapers%2Fwashingtons-hysteria-trade-bullying%2Fdocview%2F2611745109%2Fse-2
- China Daily. (2021, December 24). *China's Commerce Ministry rejects US economic bullying through so-called Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act*. China Daily. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202112/24/WS61c5aa7fa310cdd39bc7d5f6.html
- China Daily. (2021, December 26). *US signing of Xinjiang-Related Act 'wrong, unpopular, dangerous': Spokesperson*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202112/26/WS61c7a41da310cdd39bc7d79c.html
- China Daily. (2021, February 24). *Canada's Xinjiang-related motion serious distortion of facts* ... ChinaDaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202102/24/WS603653b7a31024ad0baaad59.html

- China Daily. (2021, July 12). *UK report on Xinjiang Nothing But Lies: China Daily Editorial*. Opinion Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202107/12/WS60ec2ffca310efa1bd6614ec.html
- China Daily. (2021, June 7). *Embassy spokesperson's remarks on the so-called 'Uyghur Tribunal'*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202106/07/WS60bd5249a31024ad0bac3e77.html
- China Daily. (2021, May 25). *China's Xinjiang denounces so-called 'Uygur tribunal' as trampling of Intl Law*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202105/25/WS60acfb63a31024ad0bac15c0.html
- China Daily. (2022, July 8). *Washington's Xinjiang-related legislation is nothing but to maintain hegemony*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202207/08/WS62c7953aa310fd2b29e6b434.html
- China Daily. (2022, September 15). *Xinjiang 'genocide' claims debunked by World Bodies*. China Daily. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://epaper.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202209/15/WS63225c00a3109375516ef371.html
- english.ts.cn. (2019, July 19). *Joint letter to Mike Pompeo secretary of State, the United States of America from scholars and religious personnel in Xinjiang*. World Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201907/19/WS5d31e404a310d83056400015.html
- Global Times. (2019, December 16). *Arsenal match off air amid furor over Ozil's Xinjiang remarks*. People's Daily Online. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from http://en.people.cn/n3/2019/1216/c90000-9640629.html
- Global Times. (2019, December 18). *India, China treated differently by West on ethnic issue*. Opinion Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/18/WS5df982aea310cf3e3557edf4.html
- Global Times. (2019, June 25). *Pompeo's role as troublemaker runs counter to diplomacy*. People's Daily Online. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from http://en.people.cn/n3/2019/0625/c90000-9591200.html
- Global Times. (2021, November 4). French writer launches online petition for objective view of *China*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202111/04/WS6183a6e4a310cdd39bc735f8.html
- Grenville Cross. (2022, July 29). *Group now engaged in broader campaign to malign China*. World Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202207/29/WS62e31e9ba310fd2b29e6f045.html

- Hongjie, L., Weiwei, X., & Xu, W. (2021, December 27). *Experts: US 'uyghur act' aims to harm China's image*. World Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202112/27/WS61c8f8bca310cdd39bc7d83c.html
- Jia, C. (2021, September 18). *Witnesses at 'Uyghur Tribunal' liars*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202109/18/WS61453c74a310e0e3a682275a.html
- Jia, C., & Weihua, M. (2019, December 30). *Uygurs upset by 'missing' claims*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from <a href="https://epaper.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/30/WS5e093af2a310fb3de82eb248.html">https://epaper.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/30/WS5e093af2a310fb3de82eb248.html</a>
- Jin, Z. (2021, December 25). *US curbs on Xinjiang 'have no credibility'*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202112/25/WS61c64fcda310cdd39bc7d633.html
- People's Daily. (2019, December 9). *China allows no one to back terrorist forces*. People's Daily Online. Retrieved November 8, 2019, from http://en.people.cn/n3/2019/1209/c90000-9638866.html
- People's Daily. (2019, December 9). *US double standard on anti-terrorism disdained by International Community*. Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://global.chinadaily.com.cn/a/201912/09/WS5dedaee1a310cf3e3557cccd.html
- Zao, C. (2021, February 24). "It's a campus, not a camp": Pakistani journalist shares stories of real Xinjiang vocational training centres. People's Daily Online. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from http://en.people.cn/n3/2021/0224/c90000-9821697.html
- Zhou, J. (2020, July 11). *More reciprocal sanctions to hit US*. ChinaDaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://login.dist.lib.usu.edu/login?url=https://www-proquest-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/newspapers/more-reciprocal-sanctions-hit-us/docview/2422237962/se-2
- Zhu, L. (2022, March 26). *Xinjiang Ban Dims us solar outlook, Trade Group says*. World Chinadaily.com.cn. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://www.chinadaily.com.cn/a/202203/26/WS623ea475a310fd2b29e53786.html

# Sample of Articles from *The Associated Press*

Associated Press. (2021, July 15). *Beijing: 2022 Winter Olympics on track despite pandemic*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=14586f5c-1693-44d9-a55d-a3627776c3c0&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A659N-KR21-DYMD-61W6-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr105&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr105&prid=4f798923-190f-43ca-9af0-4c43d4ef8e1a

- Associated Press. (2021, July 9). *US adds to blacklist in China's abuses of Muslim minorities*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=2cb06837-b013-4b69-9e4e-45544adcfdcc&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A633P-1BH1-DYMD-622T-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr157&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr157&prid=9b0a6747-12d3-4ddd-87d4-c552bab5e8d0
- Associated Press. (2021, March 4). *Pew Survey shows hardening American attitudes toward China*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=5361aee4-9d10-4689-937c-4051a41b33c2&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A624K-7321-JC5B-G3MJ-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr129&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr129&prid=35add77f-8467-4267-8ac4-f9a95404bd5d
- Associated Press. (2021, September 15). *Chinese ambassador to UK barred from Parliament*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=7e109917-b6ca-4dba-acf2-c00568b2bf0f&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A63M3-32G1-DYMD-61HS-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr48&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr48&prid=a253cc37-c31b-4f9e-add8-b07cc33213ae
- Associated Press. (2022, April 26). *Head of Human Rights Watch to resign after nearly 3 decades*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=14586f5c-1693-44d9-a55d-a3627776c3c0&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A659N-KR21-DYMD-61W6-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr105&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr105&prid=4f798923-190f-43ca-9af0-4c43d4ef8e1a
- Associated Press. (2022, July 16). *China's Xi, in Xinjiang, signals no change to Uyghur policy*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=23930977-df25-4c05-93ab-8f442c8ce410&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A65XX-5NY1-JC5B-G4MG-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr0&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&ea rg=sr0&prid=3d775b1b-aab1-4929-9ab3-55018790630d
- Associated Press. (2022, May 23). Xinjiang in focus as UN rights chief arrives for China visit. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=89eb6242-aac3-476d-b818-2a4a2d0e0c4f&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A65HD-WXH1-DYMD-620T-00000-

- 00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr44&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr44&prid=a253cc37-c31b-4f9e-add8-b07cc33213ae
- Associated Press. (2022, May 24). *China claims sabotage as UN rights official visits Xinjiang*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=4ce305b6-a7b0-473c-8157-d0397cae441d&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A65HM-CBJ1-JC5B-G03G-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr35&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr35&prid=ef75f25b-9a47-4577-b9f3-067f47b2e8e5
- Corder, M. (2021, June 10). Lawyers urge ICC to prove alleged crimes against Uyghurs. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=bcec1f76-4bf8-4daa-a975-6a805f239729&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A62WF-BDT1-JC5B-G188-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr46&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr46&prid=a253cc37-c31b-4f9e-add8-b07cc33213ae
- Dunbar, G. (2021, March 11). *IOC and China make vaccine deal for Tokyo, Beijing Olympians*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=ad458af9-4cec-4b09-930b-4de69a53e050&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A6262-FC31-JC5B-G32N-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr116&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr116&prid=42ef581a-81a2-404e-acff-f52cb162f889
- Gillies, R. (2021, December 8). Canada joins US and allies in Beijing Olympics boycott.

  Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=4e6ee80b-4649-44a7-820a-9a907c3adc91&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A6483-DHN1-JC5B-G48Y-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr56&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr56&prid=9a4419f6-a345-40a4-bd19-e07623539303
- Goodman, J., & Wieffering, H. (2022, April 15). *Putin's Pollock: US seafood imports fuel Russian war machine*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=751dddf0-f9da-4bb3-84c6-8d7c63b8f0a6&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A657C-7JT1-DYMD-6408-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr151&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr151&prid=9b0a6747-12d3-4ddd-87d4-c552bab5e8d0
- Guzel, M., & Fraser, S. (2021, March 25). *Uyghurs in Turkey protest Chinese foreign minister's visit*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-

- lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=aa79b873-fb86-4af6-a4c8-3e07b7c53571&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A6292-5K71-JC5B-G3BS-00000-
- 00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr24&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr24&prid=649afb86-de73-4a89-89c9-e85db155cfb2
- Jaffe, A., Madhani, A., & Vineys, K. (2021, April 26). *Biden's first 100 days: Where he stands on key promises*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=50d5986d-7d8b-46a3-9578
  - a8a5511fbd46&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A62HT-V831-DYMD-6146-00000-
  - 00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr160&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr160&prid=b746acc4-b0e1-4a18-9ccd-0b6d92609b7b
- Kang, D. (2021, July 22). Room for 10,000: Inside China's largest detention center. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=ff3758c3-0ae7-432b-82ea-905cfb882683&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A636C-DRG1-DYMD-63RK-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr62&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr62&prid=c58e14a7-5d71-4217-b29f-23da4e407d27
- Kang, D. (2021, May 12). *Drop in Xinjiang birthrate largest in recent history: report*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=2d14e180-3a76-4841-837d-8ccdb7876e16&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A62N7-FF11-JC5B-G393-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr34&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr34&prid=ef75f25b-9a47-4577-b9f3-067f47b2e8e5
- Kang, D. (2022, September 1). For exiled Uyghurs, UN report is long-awaited vindication. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=8a6c7173-e661-43bc-a39b-24e88830e06d&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A6690-SFH1-JC5B-G2PW-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr28&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr28&prid=649afb86-de73-4a89-89c9-e85db155cfb2
- Lederer, E. M. (2021, June 18). *UN re-elects Antonio Guterres as secretary-general*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=fe6b78c5-756f-4424-b6a6-f4644f5e41ac&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A62Y5-S981-JC5B-G2XF-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr144&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr144&prid=6b74ff26-35d6-49bd-9524-2c567be05ed4

- Lederer, E. M. (2021, May 12). West and rights groups accuse China of massive Uyghur crimes. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=04acbfe1-564b-4d5b-8800-8f4c8ef9b701&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A62N9-PJ41-JC5B-G4SB-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr14&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr14&prid=4ca7c5b7-65dc-4dff-8400-9be22b8c151a
- Leicester, J. (2022, February 5). What message did China send by choosing Uyghur torchbearer? Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=6698ab79-c807-449e-8014-aed3f3c146cd&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A64PM-3JX1-DYMD-61S3-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr10&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr10&prid=4ca7c5b7-65dc-4dff-8400-9be22b8c151a
- McGuirk, R., & Moritsugu, K. (2021, March 24). China summons foreign diplomats in protest over sanctions. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=cc50b0b7-11d7-4981-a46b-143376c0daa9&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A628S-5WB1-JC5B-G4XX-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr96&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr96&prid=a2d2bb6a-e452-4ffb-a2c5-f6bafd4759f9
- Mendoza, M. (2020, July 3). *AP Exclusive: Hair weaves from Chinese prison camps seized*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=a1b0985c-e79f-4208-a4df-43fc9814b8f2&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A608G-GKF1-JC5B-G0XC-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr83&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr83&prid=475ab556-3d5d-4647-be2b-3d880abe5f9f
- Moritsugu, K. (2021, April 24). *Chinese official in Xinjiang slams UK genocide declaration*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=5ecb2325-ed4d-4d1d-89c6-e9276dd00088&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A62HC-VT81-DYMD-622C-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr50&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr50&prid=9a4419f6-a345-40a4-bd19-e07623539303
- Moritsugu, K. (2022, May 28). *UN human rights chief asks China to rethink Uyghur policies*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=b07c04c6-b399-404a-b0f5-cd830eb16f36&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte

- m%3A65JJ-8C71-JC5B-G0VT-00000-
- 00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr8&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&ea rg=sr8&prid=7c05f5a3-6420-4d8d-b358-e7a0eaa3c53a
- Perry, N. (2021, May 3). New Zealand leader Ardern takes a tougher stance on China. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=2fd667cb-44eb-4472-8c19-60a037315307&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A62K9-MD51-DYMD-62S4-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr141&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr141&prid=6b74ff26-35d6-49bd-9524-2c567be05ed4
- Shih, G. (2017, August 3). Turkey and China pledge security cooperation as ties warm. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=878d61db-98cf-4e89-bbe9-aa5577f09f19&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A5P5K-C121-JC65-54KK-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr161&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr161&prid=b746acc4-b0e1-4a18-9ccd-0b6d92609b7b
- Wade, S. (2021, August 2). *Beijing Games: Sports coverage fine, other things maybe not*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=38aedb89-40dc-471a-a205-9f71c34a2d69&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A638R-88N1-JC5B-G4GH-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr127&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk &earg=sr127&prid=35add77f-8467-4267-8ac4-f9a95404bd5d
- Wade, S. (2021, February 26). *Rights groups target sponsors like Airbnb for Beijing Games*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexiscom.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=7c33000b-6d76-4216-aa57-0870091d1d89&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A6237-DWX1-JC5B-G3KC-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr78&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr78&prid=81b15953-84fe-4553-a7a2-206a32af6b3f
- Wang Fujiyama, E. (2021, March 29). *China pressures brands to reject report of Xinjiang abuses*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=4e6ee80b-4649-44a7-820a-9a907c3adc91&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentIte m%3A6483-DHN1-JC5B-G48Y-00000-00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr56&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr56&prid=9a4419f6-a345-40a4-bd19-e07623539303
- Wu, H. (2022, February 9). *Praise for Eileen Gu breaks Chinese social media*. Associated Press International. Retrieved November 8, 2022, from https://advance-lexis-

com.dist.lib.usu.edu/document/?pdmfid=1516831&crid=0bd38061-6d1f-42ed-a875-e75bde2edeaa&pddocfullpath=%2Fshared%2Fdocument%2Fnews%2Furn%3AcontentItem%3A64RD-XF41-JC5B-G473-00000-

00&pdcontentcomponentid=138211&pdteaserkey=sr133&pditab=allpods&ecomp=zznyk&earg=sr133&prid=1ece9e3a-fdbc-4b50-930b-65a9be2858b7

# **Author Biography**

Christina Elizabeth Anderson is pursuing Bachelor's of Arts degrees in International Studies, with an emphasis in Peace and Security, and Global Communication, along with a certificate in Global Peacebuilding. Throughout her college career, she has participated in discussions as a Merrill Scholar, presented at the Utah Conference on Undergraduate Research and the National Conference on Undergraduate Research at the University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire, and interned with the Spanish non-governmental organization El Camí de la Solidaritat. She is passionate about empowering groups and individuals in her community through seeing their humanity and providing them with resources for success and hopes to continue developing her skillset through involvement with organizations in the community and further education in the future.